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NEBRASKA AUDITOR OF PUBLIC ACCOUNTS 
 Charlie Janssen Charlie.Janssen@nebraska.gov 

 State Auditor PO Box 98917 

State Capitol, Suite 2303 

Lincoln, Nebraska  68509 

402-471-2111, FAX 402-471-3301 

www.auditors.nebraska.gov 

December 14, 2018 

 

Rebecca Harling, County Attorney 

Lincoln County 

301 N. Jeffers, Room 101A 

North Platte, NE 69101 

 

Dear Ms. Harling: 

 

As you may know, the Nebraska Auditor of Public Accounts (APA) received concerns regarding the 

Lincoln County Attorney’s Juvenile Diversion Program (Program).  As a result, the APA began limited 

preliminary planning work to determine if a full financial audit or attestation would be warranted.  

Pursuant thereto, the APA requested certain information from the Village.  Based upon the outcome of 

the preliminary planning work, the APA has determined that it is unnecessary for this office to perform a 

separate financial audit or attestation at this time.  

  

During the course of the preliminary planning work, we noted certain internal control or compliance 

matters, or other operational matters, that are presented below.  The following information is intended to 

improve internal controls or result in other operational efficiencies.  

 

To start, Neb. Rev. Stat. § 43-260.02 (Reissue 2016) authorizes a county attorney “to establish a juvenile 

pretrial diversion program with the concurrence of the county board.”  When asked, however, your office 

was unable to provide us with documentation of the County Board’s approval for the Program.   

 

Initially, you stated that you did not have a formal, written contract with Family Skill Building Services, 

which administers the Program.  Without such a legal instrument, the terms and conditions of the 

agreement, including the rights and responsibilities of the parties, as well as other important 

considerations, such as access to records, funding of the program, etc., are not adequately documented.  

Not until we issued a draft report to you on December 6, 2018, did you provide an agreement from 2011. 

 

Additionally, we have received complaints that your office responds to inquiries regarding the juvenile 

diversion program by denying responsibility for it.  As noted above, § 43-260.02 authorizes the county 

attorney to implement a juvenile diversion program, meaning that your office retains ultimate 

responsibility for the Program – as indicated also by other statutes governing such undertakings. 

 

Others have complained that information regarding the specific services provided to their sons or 

daughters under the Program is not shared with them.  This appears to be inconsistent with the provisions 

of the “Nebraska Juvenile Pretrial Diversion Guidelines” (May 2015) (“Guidelines”), published by the 

Nebraska Commission on Law Enforcement and Criminal Justice (“Commission”).  Page 17 of that 

document, which contains best practice recommendations for these programs, says the following: 
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Active parental involvement 

Parental involvement in juvenile pretrial diversion is vital.  The involvement of the parents will provide interaction 

between the juvenile and the parents outside of the home and in a positive environment.  Parental support encourages 

the juvenile to complete the program requirements.  Chaotic home life and parental use of alcohol and other drugs 

may contribute to youth becoming involved in the juvenile justice system.  Parents need to understand how ineffective 

parenting of youth with difficult temperaments and conduct disorders contributes to involvement in the juvenile justice 

system.   Offer parent education classes to assist parents in developing stronger communication and discipline skills. 
 

The diversion agreement signed by the juvenile should also be signed by the parent or legal guardian for legal 

purposes and to ensure the parents are aware of the juvenile’s activities.  
 

Page 20 of the Guidelines adds the following: 
 

Best practice: When families or support systems are required to participate, the youth and family will have better 

outcomes in diversion. 
 

On page 25 of the Guidelines, “family engagement” is defined as follows: 
 

Actively engaging families in decision-making, setting goals, and other meaningful ways to support their child’s 

ongoing development.   Family engagement is both motivating and empowering for families as their working towards 

positive change.  
 

We recommend you implement procedures to ensure that the County’s juvenile diversion program is 

carried out in accordance with applicable statutes and the Commission’s Guidelines. 
 

County Attorney’s Response: See attached for written agreement and County Board approval dated 

after the APA’s draft letter. 
 

* * * * * * 
 

The preliminary planning work that resulted in this letter was designed primarily on a test basis; therefore, 

it may not bring to light all existing weaknesses in the County Attorney’s policies or procedures.  

Nevertheless, our objective is to use the knowledge of the entity to make comments and recommendations 

that we hope will prove useful to the County Attorney.  
  

Draft copies of this letter were furnished to the County Attorney to provide her with an opportunity to 

review and to respond to the comments and recommendations contained herein.  All formal responses 

received have been incorporated into the letter.  
  

This communication is intended solely for the information and use of the County Attorney and her office’s 

management.  It is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than those specified parties.  

However, this letter is a matter of public record, and its distribution is not limited.  
 

If you have any questions regarding the above information, please contact our office.   
 

Sincerely, 
 

 

 

 

Mary Avery 

Special Audits and Finance Manager 

Phone: 402-471-3686 

Mary.avery@nebraska.gov 
 

cc: Duane Deterding, Lincoln County Board Chair 



 



 



 



  



 


